A FAITHFUL WORD

SERIES ONE

A Warning to Quarantine Divisive Workers

"MARK THOSE WHO MAKE DIVISIONS"

Book 1

© 2007 Defense and Confirmation Project

All rights reserved. No part of this work may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means—graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or information storage and retrieval systems—without permission from DCP.

1st printing, May 2007 2nd printing, June 2007 Electronic printing, July 2007

Published by
Defense and Confirmation Project (DCP)
P. O. Box 3217
Fullerton, CA 92834

DCP is a project to defend and confirm the New Testament ministry of Watchman Nee and Witness Lee and the practice of the local churches.

Phil. 1:7 – Even as it is right for me to think this concerning you all because you have me in your heart, since both in my bonds and in the defense and confirmation of the gospel you are all fellow partakers with me of grace.

All verses and footnotes are from the Holy Bible Recovery Version, published by Living Stream Ministry. All books cited are publications of Living Stream Ministry and are from either *The Collected Works of Watchman Nee* or the published ministry of Witness Lee unless otherwise noted. Excerpts from the Recovery Version and the ministry of Watchman Nee and Witness Lee are copyrighted by Living Stream Ministry and are used by permission.

Unless otherwise indicated, the articles in this book are co-authored by Bill Buntain with Dan Sady and staff.

Boldface type has been used for emphasis in quoted passages and is not in the original quoted material unless otherwise noted.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preface	5
A Warning to All the Saints and All the Churches in the Lord's Recovery Concerning Titus Chu and Those Who Promote and Disseminate His Divisive Teachings, Publications, Practices, and Views	7
QUARANTINE IN THE BIBLE AND IN PRACTICE	17
Divisiveness Is a Serious Sin against the Body of Christ	17
Exercising Quarantine to Protect the Church from Divisive Members	22
Quarantine Is Exercised in the Hope of Restoration	24
Respecting the Feeling of the Body	27
Quarantine Must Be Exercised Without Personal Affection or Loyalty	30
Quarantining by Turning Away and Refusing to Listen	33
The Proper Exercise of Quarantine Crushes Satan Under Our Feet	35
Not Being Discouraged But Pursuing Christ for the Building Up of His Body	35
THE HERESY OF DIVISION	39

PREFACE

Rom. 16:17 – Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them.

On October 7, 2006, a letter of warning concerning Titus Chu and certain workers associated with him was presented in a special meeting of the International Training for Elders and Responsible Ones (ITERO) in Whistler, Canada. Sixty-three co-workers representing the work in the Lord's recovery on the various continents throughout the earth signed this letter. This letter called on the saints and the churches in the Lord's recovery to "turn away from" Titus Chu and those aggressively promoting and defending his divisive activities in the biblical principle of quarantining. The letter of warning was accompanied by several documents which demonstrated the need for the warning and presented principles from the ministry of Watchman Nee and Witness Lee for dealing with division and divisive members.

This series of books includes the content of the fellowship given and materials distributed at Whistler as well as additional supporting documentation. This book contains the co-workers' letter of warning as well as two new articles, not presented at Whistler. The first presents the biblical mandate on which the letter of warning is based, that is, to "mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them" (Rom. 16:17). The second presents a proper understanding from the Bible that causing division constitutes heresy.

A WARNING TO ALL THE SAINTS AND ALL THE CHURCHES IN THE LORD'S RECOVERY CONCERNING TITUS CHU AND THOSE WHO PROMOTE AND DISSEMINATE HIS DIVISIVE TEACHINGS, PUBLICATIONS, PRACTICES, AND VIEWS

OCTOBER 1, 2006

"Take heed to yourselves and to all the flock, among whom the Holy Spirit has placed you as overseers to shepherd the church of God, which He obtained through His own blood. I know that after my departure fierce wolves will come in among you, not sparing the flock. And from among you yourselves men will rise up, speaking perverted things to draw away the disciples after them. Therefore watch." (Acts 20:28-31a)

"Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them." (Romans 16:17)

"A factious man, after a first and second admonition, refuse, knowing that such a one is perverted and is sinning, though he is condemned by his own self." (Titus 3:10-11)

With heaviness of heart and a deep awareness of the consequences of this action, the signers of this letter make this statement of warning on behalf of all the blending co-workers in the Lord's recovery. We ask all the leading ones and saints in the recovery to read it carefully in its entirety with much prayer.

In the past two years Brother Titus Chu and some of his coworkers and other leading ones under his influence have produced a growing number of writings criticizing the teaching of the ministry in the Lord's recovery, attacking the direction of the ministry, and promoting many views that are dissenting from the ministry that we have received. These writings have been disseminated worldwide in publications and especially on the Internet by way of electronic mail and Web sites. Such opposition has intensified in recent months and is affecting some churches and saints who do not know the facts underlying the present situation.

Not long ago Titus Chu deliberately made public over the Internet a letter he wrote to twenty-one blending co-workers in response to their earlier correspondence with him. We have learned that he is also now disclosing personally the contents of his letter in different places. His letter confuses, misleads, and indeed deceives the uninformed because it misrepresents many matters, including the fellowship in all the letters the blending co-workers have written to him (see www.afaithfulword.org/corresp/specialfellowship.html).

We are issuing this warning because of the ongoing damage to the Lord's recovery being caused by the propagation of these negative writings and speakings. We feel extremely sorrowful that the current situation in the Lord's recovery has forced us to make a public statement concerning matters which have now become a serious threat to the testimony of oneness in the recovery.

This statement is necessary because:

- 1. Brother Titus Chu and those who actively promote and defend his ministry are clearly separating themselves from the vast majority of the churches, saints, leading brothers, and co-workers throughout the whole earth who are seeking to be faithful to the entire ministry of Watchman Nee and Witness Lee, which is the New Testament ministry. Titus Chu and certain of his supporters are in open dissent concerning particular scriptural truths and organic practices that are part of the treasured heritage of the Lord's recovery as received through the ministry of these two special servants of God.
- 2. Titus Chu holds different opinions (1 Cor. 1:10; 1 Cor. 11:19; Gal. 5:20), espouses different teachings (1 Tim. 1:3; Rom. 16:17; Eph. 4:14), and encourages different practices (1 Cor. 4:17; Phil 4:9; 1 Tim. 4:15) than those delivered to and kept by the Lord's recovery generally. He has built up a different ministry alongside the one ministry in the recovery, he is doing a different work, which is

actually his own work, within the unique work of the Lord's recovery, and, for all intents and purposes, he is carrying out a different "recovery" in the sphere of the Lord's recovery. These differences have led to open dissent and opposition on the part of Titus Chu and some of his co-workers, as expressed in the following:

- a. Challenging and rejecting the teaching of Brother Watchman Nee and Brother Witness Lee concerning the uniqueness of the vision of the age, the ministry and the minister of the age, and the wise master builder.
- b. Slandering Living Stream Ministry, the publisher of the ministry of Watchman Nee and Witness Lee, and those who serve in it, by declaring that Living Stream Ministry is a headquarters exercising control over the churches throughout the earth.
- c. Claiming that the publications of Living Stream Ministry have replaced the Bible as the source in some churches and are emphasized above the Bible.
- d. Discouraging and even preventing people from participating in the seven annual international gatherings, saying that these gatherings are unscriptural and are used as a means of controlling the churches.
- e. Disparaging and misrepresenting the full-time training in Anaheim, California, in order to hinder saints from attending the training.
- f. Opposing the blending co-workers' adherence to Brother Nee's practice and Brother Lee's teaching and practice of being restricted in one publication (not as an item of the common faith but as it relates to the one trumpet sound of the ministry).
- g. Promoting their own publications to advance different teachings and interpretations, and bringing in confusion and division by so doing.
- h. Accusing the blending co-workers of being intolerant toward interpretational differences, to divert the saints' attention from the fact that they teach differently from the New Testament ministry.
- i. Accusing the blending co-workers of promoting conformity and uniformity among the churches and the saints.

- j. Asserting that there is no speaking of the Lord through the ministry to all the churches, thereby opening the door to different speakings, different teachings, and different leadings in the Lord's recovery.
- k. Claiming that there is no authority in the Body of Christ beyond the boundary of locality and that there is no practical way to know the feeling of the Body outside one's individual local church, thus leaving each church free to do what is right in its own eyes without caring for the Body of Christ as a whole.
- l. Promoting the isolation of churches from the common fellowship of all the churches in the Body of Christ in the name of practicing local administration.
- m. Contending that the churches that seek to follow the general ministry in the Lord's recovery are no longer local churches but "ministry churches."
- n. Carrying out in the way of rivalry independent moves in the work in various continents through their own conferences, trainings, and publications.
- 3. Titus Chu and certain of his private co-workers publicly criticize the ministry's emphasis on the up-to-date speaking of the high peak truths of the divine revelation, characterizing the brothers who are faithful to such speaking as blind and religious. While Titus Chu uses certain terminologies of the high peak truths in his speaking and writing, he demeans those who stress these truths, and by implication, Brother Lee and the truths themselves. He also changes the meaning and application of many scriptural terms and concepts (such as the Body of Christ, fellowship, blending, oneness, ministry, one accord, and co-working) that form the basis of certain crucial teachings and practices of the Lord's recovery. By doing so, he compromises both the nature and the course of the recovery.
- 4. Titus Chu and certain of his co-workers accuse the brothers who carry out the work of the ministry in the way of blending of establishing a worldwide organization to oversee the work, of trying to centralize control, and of replacing the organic Body of Christ with a global organization. These false charges seek to undermine the blending co-workers in their service to the Lord's recovery.

- 5. Titus Chu and certain of his co-workers distort Brother Lee's speaking about repenting for the churches' failures in receiving believers in order to justify their openness to and acceptance of many of the deviations and worldly practices in today's Christianity.
- 6. Titus Chu and certain of his co-workers lead many young believers into pride, ambition, and corruption, supporting their use of worldly and fleshly means to preach the gospel and gain increase.
- 7. Although Titus Chu was raised up through Brother Lee's ministry and in earlier years was even useful to him, Brother Lee became fully aware of the damaging nature of Titus Chu's work. He repeatedly cautioned many saints of its dangers publicly in principle and told many co-workers of the same privately in detail. In particular, he warned that Titus Chu's work was to build up a division. Regrettably, this has been increasingly and is now openly manifested.
- 8. Before he passed away, Brother Lee attempted to blend Brother Titus Chu and some of his co-workers into the one work in the Lord's recovery. After Brother Lee departed to be with the Lord, the brothers who sought to carry on his ministry continued to be open to Titus Chu and his co-workers and over a period of eight years tried to blend together with them. This was done through personal and public attempts to reconcile them to Brother Lee's view of the Lord's recovery and its work. For some years Titus Chu was in outward agreement with this direction, but in 2004 he and some of his supporters began to openly criticize the co-workers and churches in the recovery and have continued to do so in an escalating manner until this day.

We declare unequivocally that the many accusations being made by Titus Chu and certain of his co-workers against the blending co-workers and the recovery itself are false. We strongly testify that in the Lord's recovery there is no global organization, but only the fellowship of the local churches in oneness. There is no hierarchy, but only the blending together of the saints for the building up of the Body of Christ. There is no attempt at unification, but only the striving together of the co-workers for the one accord in God's move. We further testify that the nature of the Lord's recovery has not changed since the passing of Brother Lee. The recovery is still advancing in the central lane of God's economy according to the apostles' teaching and fellowship embodied in the New Testament ministry. Generally speaking, the saints and the churches are endeavoring to be constituted with the high peak of the divine revelation, to live the life of a corporate God-man, and to practice the God-ordained way in the New Testament priesthood of the gospel, all with a view to the unique goal of building up the local churches for the attainment of the reality of the Body of Christ.

What has changed greatly in these nine years since Brother Lee was among us is that Brother Titus Chu and certain of his followers have become increasingly factious and audacious in their attitude and behavior. The spread of their different teachings and work has sown discord. They have deviated from the central lane of the Lord's recovery and have withdrawn and distanced themselves from the fellowship of the co-workers who labor together to carry out the ministry in the Lord's recovery over the entire earth. Despite his claims that he has endeavored to be one with the recovery, the fruit of Titus Chu's labor, which is the result of his different views, his different ministry, and his numerous different teachings and practices, is now being manifested in various places, even causing division in churches in the Lord's recovery. His own writings and the result of his work should convince the discerning saints that his ministry is different from the ministry which produced the Lord's recovery and continues to supply the recovery and lead it on.

Based on the principles defined in the Scriptures by the apostles and practiced by Brother Lee and the recovery in the past, we must now be faithful to the Lord and the recovery and issue a strong warning to all the saints and all the churches. In Romans 16:17 Paul exhorted us to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which we have learned, and turn away from them. In accordance with this word, we solemnly exhort all the saints to join with us to mark Brother Titus Chu and

those who disseminate his divisive views and his dissenting speaking, and turn away from them. For the sake of preserving themselves and the rest of the Body, we urge the saints to keep a watchful eye on these contagiously divisive persons and to cease interaction with them. According to Titus 3:10, a factious man—a heretical, sectarian man who causes divisions by forming parties in the church according to his own opinions—should be refused, rejected, after a first and second admonition. To refuse such a one does not mean that we cut him off. Rather, it means that we take action to quarantine him in order to save both the contagious one and the rest of the Body.

We also admonish the saints not to read the materials published and spread by these brothers in printed form and on the Internet. Such materials are filled with questionings and contentions of words which spread sickness and death (1 Tim. 6:4; 2 Tim. 2:16-17, 23). Brother Titus Chu and his fellow dissenters employ contentious reasonings, manipulate Scripture and others' speaking, distort history, and make emotional appeals in order to gain sympathy and deceive the uninformed and innocent in order to draw them away after themselves (Acts 20:29-30). We must be careful about anyone who is spreading spiritual death and keep ourselves away from him (Num. 6:6-9 and footnotes). We must overcome any personal affection and stand resolutely with the testimony of oneness in the Lord's unique recovery. We must also realize that being neutral out of a good heart in this matter does not build up but rather damages the Body of Christ. Again, we urge all the saints and all the churches everywhere to practice the truth by turning away from every factor and person that causes dissension and division in the Lord's recovery.

We are deeply grieved to have to issue the present warning, but necessity is laid upon us as we seek to be faithful to the Lord, to His church, and to the saints. As we confront the present problem, we do not claim superiority in our position or perfectness in our condition; rather, we only assert resoluteness and steadfastness for the precious recovery of the Lord. As Brother Lee said often—and we endeavor to imitate him—we are but the little and unprofitable servants of the Lord in His ministry and in His recovery. We harbor no personal offense and bear no ill will toward Brother Titus Chu and those who disseminate his divisive views and his dissenting speaking. We have been patient in this situation for many years and, as always, long for their repentance. We pray that they will receive mercy from God to make a genuine turn from their error back to the one blending fellowship in the Lord's recovery, that is, to once again follow the footsteps of the flock.

May the Lord give grace to all those who love Him in incorruptibility, and may He deliver us all from the evil one. In closing, from deep within we echo Brother Lee's last prayer: "Lord, strengthen Your recovery." Amen.

On behalf of all the blending co-workers in the Lord's recovery

Representing Africa:

John Huang, South Africa James Lee, Africa Dick Taylor, Africa

Representing Australasia: Ron Topsom, Australia Ray Macnee, New Zealand

Representing Asia:

Ittai Cheng, Hong Kong Teoh Sen Hee, Malaysia Livingstone Lee, Taiwan Jerusalem Sun, India Liu Chi Cheng, Philippines Lin Horng, Taiwan Kung Huan Huang, Japan Jacinto Chua, Philippines Chun-Ying Wu, Taiwan Hee Deuk Lee, Korea Peter Chen, Taiwan Paul Wu, Taiwan Daniel Suh, Korea Simpson Chen, Taiwan Wen Tien Yu, Taiwan Rad Chaosawan, Thailand

Representing Europe:

Bill Lewallen, France Elton Karr, Romania Joe Davis, United Kingdom Bob Danker, Poland Dan Leslie, Russia

Representing the Middle East: Jake Jacobson, Israel

Representing North America:

Robert Lim. Canada Sherman Robertson, C. America Benjamin Chen, USA Sterling Byassee, Mexico Frances Ball, USA Minoru Chen, USA Paul Hon, Mexico Bill Barker, USA Les Cites, USA Gary Kaiser, Central America John Brooks, USA David Dong, USA Ray Graver, USA Bob Little, USA Kerry Robichaux, USA Dennis Higashi, USA John Little, USA Clem Rogers, USA

Dave Higgins, USA

Suey Liu, USA Rick Scatterday, USA Colley Joseph, USA Dave Lutz, USA Tym Seay, USA Ron Kangas, USA Ed Marks, USA Jim Reetzke, Sr., USA Joel Kennon, USA Jim Miller, USA Dan Towle, USA Bill Lawson, USA Benson Phillips, USA Andrew Yu, USA Albert Lim. USA Mel Porter, USA

Representing South America: Lee Daw-Jiueng, Paraguay

QUARANTINE IN THE BIBLE AND IN PRACTICE

Because many saints are not familiar with the biblical practice of quarantining a divisive member of the church, it is worthwhile to examine the biblical record and the ministry of Watchman Nee and Witness Lee to understand some of the key principles involved. These principles include the following:

- 1. Divisiveness is a sin against the Body.
- 2. Quarantining is the Scriptural response to protect the church from the activities of a divisive member.
- 3. Quarantine is exercised in the hope of restoring a divisive member to the fellowship of the Body.
- 4. In exercising to quarantine a divisive member, individual churches and believers should respect the feeling of the Body.
- 5. Our response to a decision to quarantine certain divisive members should not be influenced by personal affection or loyalty.
- 6. To quarantine a divisive member means we refuse to listen to their divisive talk.
- 7. If we are one with the Body to quarantine a divisive member, Satan will be crushed under our feet.

If we understand these principles and recognize that it is "normal" for there to be problems in the churches, we will not be discouraged but will be strengthened to pursue Christ in a positive way for the building up of His Body.

Divisiveness Is a Serious Sin against the Body of Christ

Eph. 4:1, 3 – [1] I beseech you therefore, I, the prisoner in the Lord, to walk worthily of the calling with which you were called... [3] being diligent to keep the oneness of the Spirit in the uniting bond of peace.

- Rom. 12:5 So we who are many are one Body in Christ, and individually members one of another.
- 1 Cor. 12:12 For even as the body is one and has many members, yet all the members of the body, being many, are one body, so also is the Christ.
- 1 Cor. 1:10 Now I beseech you, brothers, through the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that you all speak the same thing and that there be no divisions among you, but that you be attuned in the same mind and in the same opinion.
- 1 Cor. 12:25 That there would be no division in the body, but that the members would have the same care for one another.

The Lord desires to recover a testimony of the proper oneness of the Body of Christ.

Paul exhorted us to keep the oneness by telling us that we have to walk worthily of our calling (Eph. 4:1). The Lord called us into the fellowship of Christ in His Body. He called us into one Body, so we have to walk according to the oneness of this Body. The highest virtue of our Christian walk is to keep the oneness. In the teaching of the New Testament, the apostles cared for this to the uttermost. The keeping of the oneness is the primary virtue of our Christian walk. (Messages to the Trainees in Fall 1990, p. 124)

The Lord is burdened to recover the oneness of the Body of Christ, which has been lost among His children. This fellowship should show us that there is no reason for any division in the Body of Christ. The Lord's recovery is firstly for the purpose of testifying that the Body of Christ should be one. The practice of this oneness has been lost throughout the centuries, but we are a relatively small number of saints who wish to satisfy the Lord's heart to recover this oneness. We accept all the believers in Christ, but we must turn away from the divisive, sectarian, ones to preserve us and keep us in the oneness of the Body of Christ. (Messages to the Trainees in Fall 1990, p. 129)

God hates division because it damages the Body.

The Lord also will not tolerate division. The Lord hates division because it destroys His people as His expression. In the Old Testament the children of Israel were God's people for His corporate expression. In the New Testament the corporate expression of the Lord is the Body of Christ. Whereas heresy insults and damages the person of Christ, division damages the Body of Christ. Division kills the Body of Christ and cuts it into pieces. Because heresy damages the Head and because division kills the Body, the Lord, in both the New Testament and the Old Testament, will never tolerate heresy and division. (Life-study of Deuteronomy, p. 88)

The longer we go on in our Christian life before the Lord, the more we will realize the reality of the oneness of the Body. Sooner or later, we will see that oneness is a reality. It is a very sobering reality. We must learn to not damage it. It is lawlessness, rebellion, and disobedience for anyone to damage the oneness of the Body. (*The Collected Works of Watchman Nee*, vol. 50, pp. 896-897)

Any division annuls the Body. If the Body is annulled, the oneness is killed. Then the recovery is gone.... (Further Consideration of the Eldership, the Region of Work, and the Care for the Body of Christ, p. 28)

Nothing is more dreadful than division. Satan knows that even the thought of division is sufficient to undermine our Christian life. It is like a termite that eats away at the very structure of a house. Therefore, even the thought of division must be repudiated. (*The Genuine Ground of Oneness*, pp. 41-42)

No reason or excuse justifies division in the Body.

We all know there is only one church. Throughout history, past and present, there is only one church. Because there is only one Head, there is only one Body. The church is a Body with life; thus, it is not right to divide it for any reason. We must stress this: The church is one because the Body is one. Any excuse to divide the church is a sin. Division is sin, because it is a "division in the body" (1 Cor. 12:25). (*The Collected Works of Watchman Nee*, vol. 55, p. 182)

Using teachings such as the teaching concerning the headship of Christ, the teaching concerning all the churches being responsible directly to Christ alone, and the teaching concerning not exalting man, all of which seem very scriptural, as reasons for separation from the saints or for division among the churches also is condemned. As long as anything that is spiritual or scriptural causes separation or division, it is condemned. (*Elders' Training, Book 10: The Eldership and the Godordained Way* (2), p. 63)

Division is so serious that the Bible considers it as heresy.

- Gal. 5:19-20 [19] And the works of the flesh are manifest, which are such things as fornication, uncleanness, lasciviousness, [20] Idolatry, sorcery, enmities, strife, jealousy, outbursts of anger, factions, divisions, ⁴sects.
 - fn. 5:20⁴ The same Greek word as for *heresies* in 2 Pet. 2:1. Here it refers to schools of opinion (Darby's New Translation), or sects.
- 2 Pet. 2:1 But there arose also false prophets among the people, as also among you there will be false teachers, who will secretly bring in destructive heresies, even denying the Master who bought them, bringing upon themselves swift destruction.

Division is versus oneness. In order for us to practice the oneness of the Body of Christ, we need to realize that division is heretical, sectarian (Gal. 5:20b-21a). We need to see the real meaning of the word heresy in the Scriptures. Some of us may feel that heresy is anything against the truth revealed in the holy Word. Many Christians teach and practice differently in things such as foot-washing, baptism, and head covering. But the word heresy is used to refer to only two things. First, any teaching that denies the person of Christ in His divinity as God or in His humanity as man is heretical. Christ is the complete God and the perfect man. Second, the word heresy also refers to division. Galatians 5:19-21a says, "And the works of the flesh are manifest, which are fornication, uncleanness, sensuality, idolatry, sorcery, enmities, strife, angers, faction, divisions, parties, envyings, drunkenness, carousings...." In Galatians 5:20 the Greek word for "parties," hairesis, is literally heresies, which means schools of opinions (Darby's New Translation), sects. A sect is a party, and a party is a division. Divisions and parties, sects, are works of the flesh, and "those who practice such things shall not inherit the kingdom of God" (v. 21b). Second Peter 2:1 uses the word hairesis in referring to false teachers who bring in destructive heresies, denying the Master who bought them. Titus 3:10 uses the same Greek word for heresy in its adjectival form, hairetikon, in referring to a factious man. This is a heretical, sectarian man who causes divisions by forming parties in the church according to his own opinions.

Denying the person of Christ in His divinity and humanity and division are the only two items that can be considered as heretical. Wrong teachings apart from division and heresy cannot be considered heretical. A wrong teaching, such as baptism by sprinkling instead of immersion, cannot be considered heretical. This is because such wrong teachings do not affect the seven factors of our Christian faith. Some who practice baptism in a different way than immersion still have God as their Father and Jesus Christ as their Lord. They still have the Spirit. They have the same hope and the genuine faith. They also believe that baptism separates people, so they have the significance of the one baptism. The forms that we practice may differ, but the significance remains the same.

Denying the person of Christ and division are the only two items that can be considered as heretical because they are damaging to the uttermost. Denying the person of Christ insults Christ as the Head and denies Him as the Head. Division dismembers the Body of Christ. One heresy damages the Head, and the other heresy damages the Body. These heresies are intolerable in the eyes of God and should be utterly rejected by us. Second John says that if anyone denies the Lord's person in His divinity or humanity, we should not receive him into our home or even greet him (vv. 7, 9-11). If we either receive him into our home or greet him, we share in his evil works. Regarding the divisive ones, Paul strongly charges us to "turn away from them" (Rom. 16:17). (Messages to the Trainees in Fall 1990, pp. 125-126)

Division is instigated by God's enemy, Satan, to damage the Body.

...According to the Old Testament, the Lord never forgot Dan's apostasy. In the eyes of God it was the worst sin in His economy. Nothing is more damaging than divisiveness. Nothing is more destructive than division among God's people. Divisive worship centers are often related to idols. Because the Devil lurks behind idols, by setting up an idol Dan became a serpent. Whenever you become divisive, no matter how good your reason may be, there will be something behind you—the serpent, the subtle one. The whole history of the church testifies of this and our experience confirms it.... (*Life-study of Genesis*, p. 1326)

Exercising Quarantine to Protect the Church from Divisive Members

- Rom. 16:17 Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them.
- Titus 3:10-11 [10] A factious man, after a first and second admonition, refuse, [11] knowing that such a one is perverted and is sinning, though he is condemned by his own self.
- Acts 20:28-31a [28] Take heed to yourselves and to all the flock, among whom the Holy Spirit has placed you as overseers to shepherd the church of God, which He obtained through His own blood. [29] I know that after my departure fierce wolves will come in among you, not sparing the flock. [30] And from among you yourselves men will rise up, speaking perverted things to draw away the disciples after them. [31] Therefore watch.
- Lev. 13:45-46 [45] And as for the leper in whom the infection is, his clothes shall be torn, and the hair of his head shall be let loose, and he shall cover his upper lip and cry, Unclean, unclean! [46] He shall be unclean all the days during which the infection is in him; he is unclean. He shall live alone; his dwelling shall be outside the camp.
- Num. 5:2 Command the children of Israel that they send out of the camp every leper and everyone that has a discharge and everyone who is unclean because of a dead person.

Num. 12:10, 14b – [10] And when the cloud had departed from over the tent; there Miriam was, leprous, as white as snow. And Aaron turned toward Miriam, and there she was, leprous. [14b] Let her be shut up outside the camp seven days, and after that she may be brought in again.

The basic principle of quarantine is to protect the Body from contagious diseases. In particular, quarantine is the scriptural remedy to preserve the church from the contagion of division.

There may be some divisive members among us. Paul referred to these ones in Romans 16:17, which says, "Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them." Some make division purposely. We have to turn away from these division-makers. Titus 3:10 says that we must reject the factious, sectarian, members. Some members are very factious, very sectarian, very divisive, and their purpose in contacting others is to cause division. There are some like this today who have the intention of remaining among us to spread their poison. No doubt, they are division-makers, and they are factious, sectarian. Since they are division-makers, we have to turn away from them. Since they are still factious after being admonished again and again, we have to reject them.

This is according to the practice of the quarantining of the lepers in typology (Lev. 13:45-46; Num. 12:10-15). When Moses' sister, Miriam, rebelled, God punished her with leprosy. Then she was quarantined. To be quarantined is to be put aside for the profit of the whole congregation. This is because certain diseases are very contagious. If a person is sick with a highly contagious disease, he is quarantined, separated even from his family members, until he is healed. This is for the protection of the entire family. The Scriptures charge us in the same way. Anyone who is spiritually sick of the disease of division, having become a divisive person, must be quarantined. Division is very contagious, so the church has to learn to quarantine the divisive ones. According to the apostle's teaching, we must either turn ourselves away from them or reject them. This protects the entire church so that

the church can remain in a safeguarded situation. (*The Intrinsic View of the Body of Christ*, pp. 100-101)

...Because some are sick, full of the germs of division, they need to be quarantined. This is according to Romans 16:17, where Paul charges us to turn away from those who make divisions. If we do not turn away from them, we will be infected with the same disease of division. To turn away from such ones is for our preservation. According to Titus 3:10, a factious, divisive person should be refused, rejected, after a first and second admonition in order to keep the oneness of the Body of Christ. (*The World Situation and the Direction of the Lord's Move*, p. 56)

Some say that the apostle's charge to deal with the divisive ones in Romans 16:17 should not be applied to the division-makers in the Lord's recovery today. They say that Romans 16:17 refers to men who do not serve our Lord, but their own stomach, as mentioned in the next verse, and that the division-makers in the Lord's recovery today are not this kind of person. But we need to realize that in Romans 16:17 the apostle condemns the action of making divisions, regardless of what kind of person makes the divisions. A brother may be very right in every regard as a Christian, but if he makes divisions in the church or among the churches, he should be condemned and quarantined as the apostle charged. (*The Ministry of the New Testament and the Teaching and Fellowship of the Apostles*, pp. 29-30)

Quarantine Is Exercised in the Hope of Restoration

Num. 12:14b – Let her be shut up outside the camp seven days, and after that she may be brought in again.

Matt. 18:15-18 – [15] Moreover if your brother sins against you, go, reprove him between you and him alone. If he hears you, you have gained your brother. [16] But if he does not hear you, take with you one or two more, that by the mouth of two or three witnesses every word may be established. [17] And if he refuses to hear them, tell it to the church; and if he refuses to hear the church also, let him be to you just like the Gentile and the tax collector. [18] Truly I say to you, Whatever you bind on the earth

- shall have been bound in heaven, and whatever you loose on the earth shall have been loosed in heaven.
- 2 Cor. 7:9-10 [9] Now I rejoice, not that you were made sorrowful, but that you were made sorrowful to ¹repentance; for you were made ²sorrowful according to God, that in nothing you might suffer loss from us. [10] For sorrow according to God works repentance unto salvation, which is without regret; but the sorrow of the world works out death.
 - fn. $7:9^1$ This was the result the apostle sought in writing his first Epistle.
 - fn. 7:9² The apostle's first Epistle made the Corinthians sorrowful according to God, not sorrowful for anything else. This indicates that they had been brought back, reconciled, to God.
- 2 Tim. 2:25-26 [25] In meekness correcting those who oppose, if perhaps God may give them ¹repentance unto the full knowledge of the truth, [26] and they may return to soberness out of the ²snare of the devil, having been caught alive by him, unto His will.
 - fn. 2:25¹ This indicates that with the opposers of the truth it is the heart and conscience that are in question. The truth is the revelation of the living God and His economy, His heart's desire. To receive the divine revelation, the heart and conscience need to be rightly exercised toward God. The heart should be turned to Him, directed solely to Him, and the conscience must be pure and void of offense before Him. Otherwise, one may be carried away as a captive by the devil and thus fall into his snare (v. 26).
 - fn. 2:26² This indicates that the opposers of the truth have been captured and kept in a snare by the devil. The enemy of God occupies their reprobate mind with error and shuts God out, just as he did with the Pharisees (John 8:42-45). Such opposers need to turn to God in their heart and have a thorough dealing in their conscience.

On the one hand, quarantine is exercised to protect the Body from the contagious disease of divisiveness. On the other hand, it is exercised in the hope that the diseased member(s) can be recovered.

Paul instructed us in how to deal with divisions in Romans 16:17: "Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them." Concerning those who make divisions, we have to be watchful, mark them out, and turn away from them. In Titus 3:10 Paul said, "A factious man, after a first and second admonition, refuse." In a family someone may become very ill with a contagious disease. Then the whole family has to quarantine him, to be separated from him. This, however, does not mean to hate him or give him up. But for the sake of the health of the whole family, there is the need of some quarantine so that the family can be preserved and even healed. (Five Emphases in the Lord's Recovery, p. 15)

In dealing with the divisive ones, we must also take Paul's word in Titus 3:10, "A factious man after the first and second admonition refuse." A factious person is a divisive and sectarian person. According to Paul's word in Romans 16:17 and in Titus 3:10, after the first and second admonitions, we must reject such persons and turn away from them. To do this is to quarantine such persons. To quarantine a person does not mean that we hate that person. If one member in a family became ill with a contagious disease, the rest of the family would need to quarantine him for the safety of the whole family. Otherwise, the entire family would be affected. Likewise, to practice Paul's word in Romans 16:17 and in Titus 3:10 is to quarantine the divisive members in the Body of Christ. This is not my teaching; it is my presentation of the holy Word to you. (A Brief Presentation of the Lord's Recovery, p. 46)

...To turn away from the divisive ones and those who make causes of falling is to quarantine these divisive ones. When a person in a family is sick with a contagious disease, the members of the family turn away from the infected person so that they will not be contaminated with the same disease. If

they do not turn away from the infected member, they may become infected themselves and spread the contagious germs to other members of their family. This does not mean that the members of the family do not love the infected member or have given him up; it simply means that the other members want to prevent the spread of the contagious germs. (To Be Saved in the Life of Christ as Revealed in Romans, p. 35)

We have studied 1 Corinthians 5:13 particularly. The word translated *remove* here was taken from the Septuagint (Greek) version of the Old Testament. The removal of the sinful brother in 1 Corinthians 5 was like the putting of a leper outside the camp in the Old Testament (Lev. 13:45-46; Num. 5:2). In Numbers 12 Miriam rebelled against Moses, and she was stricken with leprosy. She was removed from the camp for seven days, until her leprosy was cleared up. This was a form of quarantining. There has been much talk among Christians concerning the matter of excommunication. It is wrong to excommunicate a believer. To excommunicate someone is to give him up; but to remove a person is to quarantine him with the hope that he would become sound. (*Elders' Training, Book 10: The Eldership and the God-ordained Way* (2), p. 73)

I do feel that all the churches must do something to help the saints to know the real situation in the recovery. The saints must be helped to realize that a "contagious disease" is now among us, and, as in the field of medicine, we must quarantine the diseased ones. To quarantine does not mean that we do not love those who are "ill," nor does it mean that we cut them off. It means that we do something to preserve both the contagious ones and the rest of the Body. (Elders' Training, Book 10: The Eldership and the God-ordained Way (2), p. 109)

Respecting the Feeling of the Body

Rom. 14:1 – Now him who is weak in faith receive, but not for the purpose of passing judgment on his considerations.

Rom. 16:17 – Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them.

When the co-workers taking the lead in the ministry, acting as representatives of the Body and responding to and expressing the feeling of the Body, mark certain ones to be quarantined, all of the churches should honor that quarantine.

When we accept someone at the Lord's table, we have to consider the Body. According to the principle of Romans 14, we accept all of the Lord's children, but according to Romans 16:17 we have to mark those who make divisions and turn away from them. We cannot receive division-makers who have been quarantined by the Body. Furthermore, we have to realize who has the function and qualification as the priest to discern leprosy among the Lord's children. Again this is a matter of practicing the Body life. If a local church receives someone who has offended the Body to the uttermost, that local church is obviously not going along with and not one with the Body. We have to take care of the Body. (*The Problems Causing the Turmoils in the Church Life*, pp. 30-31)

Turmoil after turmoil has transpired because of our not knowing the Body. The only remedy that can cure us of this kind of illness is the seeing of the Body. When Brother Nee taught about the Body he said that with whatever we do, we have to consider how the churches would feel about it. When we do something, we must not forget that we are members of the Body, and the Body is not only a local church. The local church is not a "local body"; if it is, it becomes a local sect. The Body is the Body of Christ, constituted by the Triune God with all the believers on this earth, with all the local churches.

Both the ministry and the many churches in the recovery made a decision to quarantine certain divisive ones. Some did not accept this decision and have even joined these divisive ones. They have disregarded the feeling of the Body. How we behave ourselves depends upon the degree of our seeing of the Body. (*The Problems Causing the Turmoils in the Church Life*, pp. 28-29)

...We must know the Body and trust in the Body. The churches in California wrote an open letter because they felt burdened and were held responsible to let the churches on this globe know the damage certain ones did in California and the loss which they had suffered. In this open letter they said

that they had made the decision to quarantine these ones. Should we listen to the churches or take care of our own personal observation of the situation? If we put the notification of so many churches aside and go to investigate the situation for ourselves, this is an offending to the Body. Do we respect the Body or do we respect ourselves?

It is not a matter of whether someone is right or wrong. He might be right, but still he offended the Body.... (*The Problems Causing the Turmoils in the Church Life*, p. 32)

In *The Fermentation of the Present Rebellion*, I mentioned only four names of ones who should be quarantined. The churches in California, West Malaysia, and Taiwan also sent out an open letter to quarantine these ones. In this matter we are touching a great truth, the truth of the Body. Do we honor the Body? The churches in California, West Malaysia, and Taiwan are parts of the Body. Should we not honor them and respect their feeling? But some were not clear and strong to keep the truth to maintain the feeling of the Body, which comprises all the churches.

We must be clear and strong in the truth, and we have to practice the truth. We must practice the truth in Romans 16:17 and Titus 3:10. Whatever we do involves the Body, so we have to keep the truth. The only remedy to the situation is for the faithful ones to come back to the truth. We must be the overcomers, the one who overcome all these situations. We must come back to the truth to practice the recovery in the way of the recovery according to the Lord's word, not according to what we think or how we feel. (*The Problems Causing the Turmoils in the Church Life*, pp. 18-19)

To reject such a quarantine is to isolate oneself from the feeling of the Body and join oneself to the idolatry of division.

When we accept someone at the Lord's Table, we have to consider the Body. According to the principle of Romans 14, we accept all of the Lord's children, but according to Romans 16:17 we have to mark those who make division and turn away from them. We cannot receive division-makers who have been quarantined by the Body. Furthermore, we have to realize who has the function and qualification as the priest to discern leprosy among the Lord's children. Again this is a

matter of practicing the Body life. If a local church receives someone who has offended the Body to the uttermost, that local church is obviously not going along with and not one with the Body. We have to take care of the Body. (*The Problems Causing the Turmoils in the Church Life*, pp. 30-31)

I have published a book called *The Fermentation of the Present Rebellion*, presenting the whole story, fully documented. That book concludes by saying that we need to "reject any kind of division (1 Cor. 1:10), to stand against any wind of teaching and any spreading of spiritual death (Eph. 4:14; 2 Tim. 2:16-17), and to separate ourselves from the contagious ones—exercising to quarantine" (Titus 3:10; Rom. 16:17). Some, however, have not agreed to quarantine these ones and have embraced division. They have been deceived to such an extent that they take the matter of division as an idol. (*Life-Study of Judges*, p. 40)

Quarantine Must Be Exercised Without Personal Affection or Loyalty

Num. 6:6-7 – [6] All the days that he separates himself to Jehovah he shall not come near a dead person. [7] He shall not make himself unclean for his father or for his mother, for his brother or for his sister, when they die, because his separation to God is upon his head.

Lev. 10:6-7 – [6] Then Moses said to Aaron and to his sons Eleazar and Ithamar, Do not dishevel the hair of your heads, and do not tear your garments, that you may not die and that He may not be angry with all the assembly. But let your brothers, the whole house of Israel, weep for the burning which Jehovah has kindled. [7] And you shall not go out from the entrance of the Tent of Meeting, lest you die; for the anointing oil of Jehovah is upon you. And they did according to the word of Moses.

Exo. 32:26-28 – [26] Moses stood in the gate of the camp and said, Whoever is for Jehovah, come to me. And all the sons of Levi gathered themselves to him. [27] And he said to them, Thus says Jehovah the God of Israel, Let each man put his sword upon his thigh, and go back and forth from

gate to gate throughout the camp, and each man kill his brother, and each man his companion, and each man his neighbor. [28] And the sons of Levi did according to the word of Moses, and that day about three thousand men among the people fell.

Deut. 33:8-9 – [8] And concerning Levi he said, May Your Thummim and Urim be with Your faithful man, Whom You tested at Massah, With whom You contended at the waters of Meribah— [9] He who said of his father and mother, I do not regard him; And his brothers he did not acknowledge, And his children he did not recognize; For they have kept Your speaking And have guarded Your covenant.

When there is an outbreak of the infectious disease of divisiveness, we must exercise to quarantine the divisive ones without respect to personal affection or loyalty. This is to care for both the Body and the diseased ones themselves.

To keep the truth, we need to overcome personal affection with the vow of a Nazarite. In Numbers 6:6-7, the Nazarites were charged not to be contaminated by any kind of death, even by the death of their blood relatives. Therefore, we must be careful about anyone who is "dying" or who is spreading death. If we realize that one who is near us is "dying" or is spreading death, we must keep ourselves away. Otherwise, if we remain near such a person, we will be contaminated by the germs of death. This will nullify our vow, and we will have to begin our vow over again (Num. 6:9-12). In some cases, to avoid the contagion of death, we need to overcome our personal affection, especially for those with whom we are well-acquainted. Leviticus 10:6-7, Exodus 32:25-29, and Deuteronomy 33:8-9 all stress the need of the overcoming of our personal affection in the service of our priesthood. Both Exodus 32:25-29 and Deuteronomy 33:8-9 tell us that when the children of Israel worshipped the golden calf, offending the Lord to the uttermost, Moses spoke the word asking all the Levites to kill their relatives and those who were close to them. They obeyed, and as a result they obtained the priesthood. The Urim and Thummim were with them, meaning that they had the revelation; they had the

vision of the Lord's oracle because of their faithfulness to God's person. God hates to see His people worship anyone besides Him. So, He demands that His faithful people "kill" all the idol worshippers. One of these worshippers might be our father, and one might be our sister. In order to be faithful to the Lord, we must overcome our personal affection. (*Elders' Training Book 10: The Eldership and the God-ordained Way* (2), p. 111)

Regardless of how much help we have received from a certain one in the past, if he does something that offends the Body, we must practice the truth.... (*The Problems Causing the Turmoils in the Church Life*, p. 32)

We also need to turn away from those who make divisions (Rom. 16:17; Titus 3:10; 1 Cor. 1:13). Even if a close relative such as our husband, wife, father, mother, brother, or sister is a division-maker, we must turn away from their division. The same applies to our intimate and close friends. Although it is difficult to turn away from those who are our intimate friends, we must realize that friendship is one thing, and the fellowship in Christ and in His Body is another thing. When Moses' sister, Miriam, became leprous, she was quarantined in Moses' presence (Num. 12).... (*The Practice of the Church Life according to the God-ordained Way*, pp. 17-18)

To care for the Lord's interest we must be faithful to quarantine diseased members in spite of the suffering we must endure out of our affection for them.

Today there is some division in the Lord's recovery. Some of the dear ones who are with us are making divisions. Because of the contagious germs of division within these ones, it is not wise for us to contact them. According to Romans 16:17 and Titus 3:10-11, we must turn away from the divisive ones. This kind of turning away is like the quarantining of a contagiously sick person. Because some of the saints were closely related to the divisive ones, their carrying out of this kind of quarantining is a suffering to them.... Because of their close relationship with the divisive ones in the recovery, some of the saints have said that they cannot quarantine them. However, even though Miriam was Aaron's sister, he still had to quarantine her during the period of her leprosy (Num. 12:10-15). Hence, even to exercise to practice the proper

quarantining is a suffering. We suffer because we do not like to see these dissenting ones separated from us. Nevertheless, if we do not quarantine them, we will not be doing the will of God, for we will annul the testimony of the oneness of the Body.

The Christian life is a suffering life because we must do the will of God. On the one hand, to do the will of God concerning our relationship with God is food to us. In John 4:34 the Lord Jesus said, "My food is to do the will of Him who sent Me and to finish His work." On the other hand, to do the will of God is a suffering. (*The Christian Life*, p. 172)

Quarantining by Turning Away and Refusing to Listen

Rom. 16:17 – Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them.

Titus 3:10-11 – [10] A factious man, after a first and second admonition, refuse, [11] knowing that such a one is perverted and is sinning, though he is condemned by his own self.

Phil. 3:3 – For we are the circumcision, the ones who serve by the Spirit of God and boast in Christ Jesus and have no confidence in the flesh.

The proper response to those who have been marked as divisive members is to simply turn away from them and refuse to listen to their divisive talk or read their divisive writings. We should not be overconfident in our ability to resist the germs in their writings.

Brother Miao made the best remark of his life when he said, "The ears are a trash can. No one throws good things like gold, silver, flour, or rice into a trash can." If anyone comes to you with gossip, you should say, "Sorry, my ears are not trash cans." They will have no choice but to take their trash elsewhere. Those who cause divisions should be marked out, and no one should have any communication with them. We should maintain our purity in our fellowship. If any word is to go out, we must first examine it and see if there is any element of rebellion or gossip in it. Much so-called fellowship

among believers is actually gossip. We must quarantine all rebellions. Titus 3 says that we should refuse a factious man after a first and second admonition (v. 10). This refusal does not mean an open excommunication. It is a measure that aims at preserving the purity of fellowship. Many times measures taken among the brothers and sisters have nothing to do with love; they are a matter of dealing with infection. If a man speaks in a rebellious way, the best way to love him is to separate him from others. This is the greatest love one can give to him, because this will bring him profit and save others. Quarantine is exercised under the principle that it is an effort of recovery for the quarantined and a measure of prevention against infection for others. (*The Collected Works of Watchman Nee*, vol. 59, p. 242)

To avoid further damage by the present turmoil, we need to practice a strict quarantine over this contagious disease. Whenever any of the dissenting ones attempts to contact you, no matter in what way and in what polite or "spiritual" manner, you should keep the apostle's teaching in Romans 16:17 and Titus 3:10 to turn away from him and reject him. Do not try to exhort or argue with such people or to find out what and how they really are. If you say anything to them, you will "swallow their bait" and they will "hook" you. You are a gentleman, a sincere, honest Christian, and a humble follower of the Lord, but they are under the deceiving of the devil and unavoidably bear some of his poison. It is impossible to talk or argue with them without being contaminated by their poison. Instead of spending the time to meet with this kind of dissenting ones, we had better save our time to pray and get into the Word so that we may have some riches of Christ to minister to the saints. (The Ministry of the New Testament and the Teaching and Fellowship of the Apostles, p. 32)

This turning away is to exercise to quarantine the divisive, sectarian ones in order to protect the saints from being contaminated. The divisive ones are very contagious. Anyone who contacts them will be "infected." This would not be good for them or for others. Thus, today we should carry out what is termed in medicine a quarantine. To quarantine a person does not mean that we do not love him. On the contrary, it means that we love both him and many others. If one member

of a family contracts a contagious disease, the whole family may need to quarantine him. This is for the benefit of all the members of the family. To cut people off, to excommunicate people, was the practice of the Brethren. From the beginning of the Lord's recovery we realized that was wrong. However, to quarantine those who are sick with a contagious spiritual disease certainly is scriptural. (*The Intrinsic Problem in the Lord's Recovery Today and its Scriptural Remedy*, p. 45)

The Proper Exercise of Quarantine Crushes Satan Under Our Feet

Rom. 16:17, 20 – [17] Now I exhort you, brothers, to mark those who make divisions and causes of stumbling contrary to the teaching which you have learned, and turn away from them. [20] Now the God of peace will crush Satan under your feet shortly. The grace of our Lord Jesus be with you.

According to Paul's word at the end of Romans 16, the proper exercise of quarantine to deal with divisive ones issues in the crushing of Satan under the feet of the local churches.

... In [Romans] 16:17 Paul does not say, "These divisive ones are brothers. We need to receive them and love them." No, he tells us to keep a watchful eye on them and to turn away from them. To turn away from those who make divisions and causes of falling is to quarantine them.

In Romans 16:20a Paul says, "Now the God of peace will soon crush Satan under your feet." It is significant that this word comes after the word concerning the strict dealing with the divisive ones. If we do not have any discernment but instead love blindly, and if we do not quarantine those who make divisions and causes of falling, Satan will be above us, not under us. But if we quarantine the divisive ones, Satan will be crushed under our feet. (*Life-Study of Deuteronomy*, pp. 83-84)

Not Being Discouraged But Pursuing Christ for the Building Up of His Body

1 Cor. 11:19 – For there must even be parties among you, that those who are approved may become manifest among you.

- Eph. 4:2-3 [2] With all lowliness and meekness, with long-suffering, bearing one another in love, [3] Being diligent to keep the oneness of the Spirit in the uniting bond of peace.
- Matt. 8:26 And He said to them, Why are you cowardly, you of little faith? Then He arose and rebuked the winds and the sea, and there was a great calm.
- Eph. 4:14 That we may be no longer little children tossed by waves and carried about by every wind of teaching in the sleight of men, in craftiness with a view to a system of error,
- John 2:19 Jesus answered and said to them, Destroy this temple, and in three days I will raise it up.
- 2 Cor. 1:9 Indeed we ourselves had the response of death in ourselves, that we should not base our confidence on ourselves but on God, who raises the dead.

Although we may be saddened or shaken by the present situation of division caused by some, we should not be disappointed that there are storms in the church life. Even in Paul's time there were such problems among the churches. Instead of being discouraged, we should exercise to be aggressive and diligent to pursue Christ and the building up of the Body of Christ in the face of the winds and the waves.

...As long as there is a storm with winds and waves, we have to be long-suffering. We also need to be diligent. We should not be discouraged. To be diligent is to be aggressive. On the one hand, we need to be lowly, meek, and long-suffering, bearing with one another in love. On the other hand, while the winds and waves are here, we have to be aggressive and diligent. We should not be disappointed to the extent that we would forget about the church life. During the storm, we can go out to visit people for the preaching of the gospel. While the waves are making trouble, we can make some profit for the Lord's interest. We can set up home meetings to nourish the newly born babes. We should not be disappointed or frustrated. Although we might experience the winds and the waves, the Lord is in our "boat," which means that He is in the church life. We have to go on aggressively to do a positive work

to save sinners, to take care of the young ones in their homes, to have small group meetings, and to perfect the seeking ones. Eventually, all the winds and the waves will be rebuked by the Lord. Regardless of how strong the storm is, eventually the church comes out with a profit and is built up in resurrection. (*The Practical and Organic Building Up of the Church*, p. 24)

As we are in the church life as the process of Christ's coming, we should not be troubled by any kind of chaos. We should not be bothered or disappointed by chaos, because chaos actually helps us. Every kind of chaos is a help to God's chosen people and to Christ's Body, the organism of the Triune God. (The Satanic Chaos in the Old Creation and the Divine Economy for the New Creation, p. 60)

Actually, according to the record of the Bible, both the satanic chaos generally and the emergence of parties in the church specifically are needed to manifest the approvedness of the Lord's overcomers.

First Corinthians 11:19 indicates that there must be parties among the believers, that those who are approved may become manifest among them. Division annuls the oneness, and there should be no division in the Body. But when there are parties in the church, which are real divisions, these parties manifest the experienced ones and the approved ones. Parties, or sects, are useful to manifest the approved ones, who are not sectarian. (*Five Emphases in the Lord's Recovery*, p. 15)

The overcomers are those who suffer the chaos, but they are not disappointed or discouraged. Instead, they are strengthened and enabled to stand for and live out the divine economy... All of us have to conquer this destructive chaos. If we are enabled by the Lord to conquer all the destructive chaos, we will triumphantly enter into the kingdom. We will be those who triumph in the unique constructive economy.

Romans 16:17 says that we need to mark those who make divisions and turn away from them. To turn away from those who make divisions is to conquer the destructive chaos. This preserves the oneness of the Body of Christ that we may have a normal church life. Those who make divisions like to contact the saints, and this contact causes the saints to be stumbled and leave the church life. If we open to these ones to listen to

their divisive talk, we might be poisoned. This poison will cause us to doubt about the recovery and will weaken our morale for the recovery. We will be cold about attending the church meetings and about reading the Recovery Version with the Life-study Messages. If we contact and open to these dissenting ones, we will be cooled down. At the very least, they will make us lukewarm. In the Life-study of Second Timothy, we pointed out that the subject of this book is the inoculation against the decline of the church. We need such an inoculation to preserve us against the germs of the satanic chaos of rebellion and division.

II. TO CONQUER ALL THE SATANIC CHAOS AND CARRY OUT THE UNIQUE DIVINE ECONOMY

A. By the Processed and Consummated Triune God as the All-sufficient Grace

We have to conquer the satanic chaos by the processed and consummated Triune God as the all-sufficient grace (1 Cor. 15:10; 2 Cor. 12:9; 2 Tim. 4:22). In 1 Corinthians 15:10 Paul said that the grace of the Lord was with him; in Galatians 6:18 he said that the grace of the Lord Jesus Christ is with our spirit; and in 2 Timothy 4:22 he said that the Lord is with our spirit. The Lord as the all-sufficient grace is with our spirit, and we can conquer all the satanic chaos and carry out the unique divine economy by Him as our all-sufficient grace.

B. According to the Truth, of Which the Church, the Manifestation of God in the Flesh, Is the Pillar and Base

We can conquer all the satanic chaos and carry out the divine economy according to the truth, of which the church, the manifestation of God in the flesh, is the pillar and base (1 Tim. 3:15-16). The rebellious ones cannot shake the church in the Lord's recovery, because the church is the pillar and base of the truth. The pillar supports the building, and the base holds the pillar. The church is the pillar supporting the truth, and the base holding the truth. Because the church is the pillar and base of the truth, we need to be those who teach the truth. Our teaching of the truth will enlighten the darkened people, inoculate against the poison, swallow up the death, and bring the distracted back to the proper track. (*The Satanic Chaos in the Old Creation and the Divine Economy for the New Creation*, pp. 75-77)

THE HERESY OF DIVISION

Introduction

On October 7, 2006, at the International Training for Elders and Responsible Ones (ITERO) held in Whistler, British Columbia, the blended co-workers in the Lord's recovery issued a statement entitled "A Warning to All the Saints and All the Churches in the Lord's Recovery concerning Titus Chu and Those Who Promote and Disseminate His Divisive Teachings, Publications, Practices, and Views." Although hundreds of churches and serving ones have affirmed the co-workers' quarantining of Titus Chu and certain of his co-workers, brothers from eight cities in the Midwest region of the United States have posted statements on the Internet rejecting that quarantine. Their statements maintain that the teaching of Titus Chu does not depart from essential items of the faith and does not, therefore, constitute heresy. Many of the statements also contend that Titus is not divisive and deny that he has caused turmoil or division in the churches. These assertions indicate the authors' incomplete understanding of the nature of heresy, their unwillingness to recognize the facts testified to by many witnesses, and their refusal to properly and scripturally deal with a divisive brother and the divisions he has created. Furthermore, the public dissemination of these formal statements endangers unsuspecting readers and frustrates the one accord among the saints by sowing unjustified doubts concerning the validity of the quarantine. The purpose of this article is to establish a clear scriptural understanding of heresy as it relates to division, to present the scriptural pattern of how to deal with a factious and heretical man, and to briefly mention some of the divisions produced by Titus Chu, his co-workers, and the teachings that they propagate. In reviewing these matters, it will become evident that the quarantine of Titus Chu and certain of his co-workers was not only warranted but necessary to the health of the Body.

The Heresy of Division

Heresy is commonly understood as that which contradicts the truth conveyed in the Bible, and it most notably refers to deviant teachings concerning the person of Christ. This is certainly a correct understanding of heresy, but it is only a partial understanding. The Greek word translated variously as "divisions," "sects," or "parties" in Galatians 5:20 is *hairesis*—heresies. Division is, therefore, heresy, as the following portion from the ministry of Brother Witness Lee explains:

Division is versus oneness. In order for us to practice the oneness of the Body of Christ, we need to realize that division is heretical, sectarian (Gal. 5:20b-21a). We need to see the real meaning of the word heresy in the Scriptures. Some of us may feel that heresy is anything against the truth revealed in the holy Word. Many Christians teach and practice differently in things such as foot-washing, baptism, and head covering. But the word heresy is used to refer to only two things. First, any teaching that denies the person of Christ in His divinity as God or in His humanity as man is heretical. Christ is the complete God and the perfect man. Second, the word heresy also refers to division. Galatians 5:19-21a says, "And the works of the flesh are manifest, which are fornication. uncleanness, sensuality, idolatry, sorcery, enmities, strife, jealousy, angers, factions, divisions, parties, envyings, drunkenness, carousings..." In Galatians 5:20 the Greek word for "parties," hairesis, is literally heresies, which means schools of opinions (Darby's New Translation), sects. A sect is a party, and a party is a division. Divisions and parties, sects, are works of the flesh, and "those who practice such things shall not inherit the kingdom of God" (v. 21b). (Messages to the Trainees, Fall 1990, p. 125)

Brother Watchman Nee also saw the New Testament revelation that division is heresy, and he helped the saints to see how this very specific meaning of the Greek word came to be obscured in the English language:

The meaning of the word *sect* is very clear in Greek. It is translated as "divisions" in 1 Corinthians 11:18 and as "sects" in Galatians 5:20. Actually, they are the same word. Why was

this word translated as "heresy" in the King James Version? In Greek the word is hairesis. The translators of the Bible probably chose not to translate the meaning of the word but instead used the word heresy. The King James Version was produced by the Anglican Church, and it had trouble with this verse because it was a state church. This reservation resulted in the use of an ambiguous word. The translators probably knew that this was not the right word, but they used it nevertheless.... Translating [hairesis] as "sect" or "division" and calling sectarianism or division a work of the flesh would have aroused controversy. This was the reason the word heresy was used instead. It diverted the reader from understanding its true meaning. Actually, the word heresy is not an English word. No English-speaking person knows what it really means.... A casual reading of a few other translations will tell you that the word hairesis is actually sect in English. But because of reservations, the word heresy was used instead, and everyone has been kept in the dark as to the true meaning of the word. The Greek word hairesis was anglicized to become heresy in 1611, and the word heresy has been with us for the last three hundred years. (The Collected Works of Watchman Nee, vol. 50, pp. 826-827)

The supporters of Titus Chu claim that the teaching he promotes does not deviate from essential items of the faith and is not heretical. Their partial understanding of what constitutes heresy may persuade the unlearned that Titus is not involved in heresy and, therefore, should be welcomed as a genuine New Testament minister by all the churches in the Lord's recovery. The tree, however, is known by its fruit (Matt. 12:33), and the fruit of Titus' ministry is the heresy of division. With few exceptions, the churches in the Lord's recovery have recognized the issue of Titus' ministry and have rejected the teaching that has brought it forth. Brother Lee strongly exhorted the saints to repudiate both the heresy concerning the person of Christ and the heresy of division:

Denying the person of Christ and division are the only two items that can be considered as heretical because they are damaging to the uttermost. Denying the person of Christ insults Christ as the Head and denies Him as the Head. Division dismembers the Body of Christ. One heresy damages the Head, and the other heresy damages the Body. These heresies are intolerable in the eyes of God and should be utterly rejected by us. Second John says that if anyone denies the Lord's person in His divinity or humanity, we should not receive him into our home or even greet him (vv. 7, 9-11). If we either receive him into our home or greet him, we share in his evil works. Regarding the divisive ones, Paul strongly charges us to "turn away from them" (Rom. 16:17). (Messages to the Trainees, Fall 1990, p. 126)

The consequence for not turning away from the heresy of division is severe. If the saints do not utterly reject division, they run the terrible risk of incurring judgment for continuing to meet in division and, thus, participating in heresy. Brother Lee continues:

Division is also repulsive in the eyes of the apostles (1 Cor. 1:10-13a; 3:3-4; 11:17-20). In 1 Corinthians 11:17-20 Paul condemned the Corinthians for coming together for the worse, because there were divisions and parties among them. Paul even said that because some were partaking of the Lord's table in division and with a divisive spirit, they were weak and sick, and some had even died (vv. 27-30). This was God's discipline and the Lord's judgment upon them for meeting in division. (*Messages to the Trainees, Fall 1990*, p. 127)

May all the saints in the Lord's recovery be preserved from heresy by refusing divisions and division-makers!

Dealing with a Factious and Heretical Man

Titus 3:10 says, "A factious man, after a first and second admonition, refuse." Footnote 1 on this verse in the Holy Bible Recovery Version identifies the factious man as "[a] heretical, sectarian man who causes divisions by forming parties in the church according to his own opinions..." In his study of several translations of this verse, Brother Lee discovered abundant support for this understanding:

Some say that in Titus 3:10 "a factious [sectarian] man" should be translated "a man who teaches heresy" and that this expression does not refer to a divisive person. But in Greek

this expression denotes a person who holds an opinion or a different doctrine that tends toward division. Thus, the English versions translate this as (1) a factious man— American Standard Version, New American Standard Bible, Marshall's Interlinear Greek-English New Testament; (2) a man who is factious—Revised Standard Version, Amplified Bible; (3) a heretical sectarian and cause of divisions— Amplified Bible; (4) a heretical person causing divisions— Wuest; (5) a sectarian—W. J. Conybeare; (6) a man who causes divisions—R. F. Weymouth; (7) a factious person— James Moffatt; (8) a sectarian man—Concordant Literal New Testament, Berry's Interlinear Greek-English New Testament; (9) a factious person—Berkeley Version; (10) a heretical man, i.e., one given to "lift up" opinions, sound or unsound, and an unstable, unsettled individual who wishes to form sects-Young's Translation; (11) causing division by a party spirit, factious-Vine's Expository Dictionary of New Testament Words; (12) a divisive person—New International Version. Most of the above translations are authorities. (The Ministry of the New Testament and the Teaching and Fellowship of the Apostles, pp. 30-31)

These definitions make plain that a factious, heretical man is one who holds to his own opinions, exalts his own opinions, persuades others to follow him according to his own opinions, and produces factions that are loyal to him based on the opinions that he promotes. Underlying the factious, heretical man's exaltation of his own opinions and his inclination to produce parties is his desire for personal gain, and he is willing even to cast aside the truth in pursuit of his aims. W.E. Vine. author of the popular Vine's Expository Dictionary of New Testament Words, touches these striking points when he defines hairesis (heresy) as "a choosing, choice (from haireomai, to choose); then, that which is chosen, and hence, an opinion, especially a self-willed opinion, which is substituted for submission to the power of truth, and leads to division and the formation of sects, Gal. 5:20" (Vine's, p. 557). He further notes that "such erroneous opinions are frequently the outcome of personal preference or the prospect of advantage" (Vine's, p. 557). The self-seeking of the factious man can never build up the Body of Christ; it can only damage it. The only course of action that the Body can take for its own preservation is to turn away from such ones (Rom. 16:17; Titus 3:10).

To turn away from a factious, heretical man is necessary to "stop intercourse with a contagiously divisive person for the church's profit" and to maintain "the one fellowship of the apostles in the church" (*The Ministry of the New Testament and the Teaching and Fellowship of the Apostles*, p. 30). It does not mean that we hate that person; on the contrary, our turning away from him is with the hope that he can be healed of his contagious disease and ultimately be restored to the fellowship of the Body (see "Quarantine in the Bible and in Practice" in this book). Even if the person from whom we must turn away is good in many other respects, we cannot tolerate the division he creates, because the Lord Himself cannot tolerate it. To turn away from such a one is to quarantine him for the sake of the health of the Body. Brother Lee writes:

Some say that the apostle's charge to deal with the divisive ones in Romans 16:17 should not be applied to the division-makers in the Lord's recovery today. They say that Romans 16:17 refers to men who do not serve our Lord, but their own stomach, as mentioned in the next verse, and that the division-makers in the Lord's recovery today are not this kind of person. But we need to realize that in Romans 16:17 the apostle condemns the action of making divisions, regardless of what kind of person makes the divisions. A brother may be very right in every regard as a Christian, but if he makes divisions in the church or among the churches, he should be condemned and quarantined as the apostle charged. (*The Ministry of the New Testament and the Teaching and Fellowship of the Apostles*, pp. 29-30)

In dealing with the divisive ones, we must also take Paul's word in Titus 3:10, "A factious man after the first and second admonition refuse." A factious person is a divisive and sectarian person. According to Paul's word in Romans 16:17 and in Titus 3:10, after the first and second admonitions, we must reject such persons and turn away from them. To do this is to quarantine such persons. To quarantine a person does

not mean that we hate that person. If one member in a family became ill with a contagious disease, the rest of the family would need to quarantine him for the safety of the whole family. Otherwise, the entire family would be affected. Likewise, to practice Paul's word in Romans 16:17 and in Titus 3:10 is to quarantine the divisive members in the Body of Christ. This is not my teaching; it is my presentation of the holy Word to you. (A Brief Presentation of the Lord's Recovery, p. 46)

The statement of warning regarding Titus Chu and his supporters that was issued at Whistler, British Columbia, in October 2006, was the blended brothers' exhortation to the saints in the Lord's recovery to refuse factious, heretical men and to repudiate their divisions in order to preserve the health of the Body. In response, the Body has quarantined the divisive ones and continues to pray for their healing and recovery.

The Tree Is Known by Its Fruit: Identifying the Heresy of Division in the Work of Titus Chu

The work of Titus Chu has resulted in clearly manifested division. The division itself is heresy, and the workers who have created the divisions are heretical. The following is an itemization of some of the unmistakable signs of division that exist in the places that are under the influence of Titus Chu, his co-workers, and their work.

- 1. In recent years, Titus Chu has become increasingly audacious in aggressively promoting teachings which directly contradict the New Testament ministry of Brothers Watchman Nee and Witness Lee. These teachings have caused the saints under their influence to reject the ministry that the Lord released through these two brothers (see "Causes of Stumbling Contrary to the Teaching").
- 2. Titus Chu has cultivated a personal following and has raised up his own private co-workers who are loyal to him.
- 3. Under Titus Chu's heretical teaching and leadership, many of the churches in the Midwest of the United States and in Eastern Canada have isolated themselves from the fellowship of the Body and have limited their fellowship to those

churches and saints that receive the ministry of Titus Chu. Titus has endeavored to carve out a region for his own work and has tried to cut that region off from the common fellowship of all the local churches on the earth.

- 4. Titus Chu has sought to displace Brother Lee's ministry with his own. Toward this end, he has carried on his own publication work to disseminate his different teachings. In so doing, he has rejected Brother Lee's admonition that we should have only one publication among us so as not to bring in different ministries other than the one New Testament ministry. Brother Lee was clear that different ministries will inevitably lead to division, and his word has been proven correct.
- 5. Titus and his co-workers have unleashed a vehement Internet attack, railing on the blended co-workers, who are faithfully continuing the ministry of Brothers Nee and Lee, and on Living Stream Ministry.
- 6. The churches under the influence of Titus' ministry have rejected the Body's action to quarantine Titus and two of his most vociferous defenders, Nigel Tomes and Frank Lin.
- 7. A number of the churches under the influence of Titus Chu have been transmuted into sects by his followers. By establishing the secular control of directors over elders, refusing believers who desire to receive the ministry of the co-workers, and despising a vast number of local churches as unworthy of their fellowship, these sects have forsaken their standing as genuine local churches.
- 8. The ministry of Titus Chu has been actively propagated to form divisions in Kampala, Uganda, and mainland China and has caused confusion and turmoil in those countries (see "From Such Turn Away" and Concerning Titus Chu's Divisive Work in Uganda).

Conclusion

The rejections of the recent quarantine proclaimed by brothers from eight cities in the United States and Canada in support of Titus Chu and his teachings are damaging because they lure unsuspecting saints into complacency regarding a divisionmaker and the heretical divisions that he and his co-workers are actively propagating. Those who choose to continue to receive Titus Chu, his co-workers, and the teachings they promote are inviting division and, therefore, heresy into their midst. As we have seen, churches that choose to neglect the quarantine are in great peril of becoming "infected" with the "germs" of division and of forfeiting their standing as genuine local churches by becoming local sects. May the Lord preserve them and all the saints from following that disastrous course.

[Tony Espinosa with Bill Buntain and Dan Sady]